
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B 

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on  
 

Monday 20 March 2023 
 

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) 
Councillor D Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
 

Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor M B Kelly 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor R S L Perfitt 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 

Cabinet 
A meeting of the above will be held on  

 
Thursday 23 March 2023 

 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman) Councillor C J Shippam 

(Vice-Chairman) Councillor S H Brown 

Councillor A R Lloyd Councillor D J Mote Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells   
 

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Wednesday 15 March 2023 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 
 

CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B  
Monday 20 March 2023 

 
CABINET 

Thursday 23 March 2023 
 

AGENDA 
  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held 

on 23 February 2023 (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 Summary: 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 
February 2023. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 February 
2023 be confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 

urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 
 
5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 20 

March 2023  
 

 To follow 
 

 
 
6. References from Committees   
 None at this stage. 

 
 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations 
 
7. Cyber Security Strategy (Pages 9 - 16)  
 Summary: 

 
To consider and approve a Cyber Security Strategy for the Council to 

 



address the organisational and behavioural elements of cyber 
security defences with the aim of improving the level of cyber security 
awareness across the Council. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Cyber Security Strategy, attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be approved. 
 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports 
 
8. Places Leisure - Fairfield Leisure Centre (Pages 17 - 20)  
 Summary: 

 
To consider the financial arrangements for 2023/24, in respect of the 
contract with Places Leisure for the operation of Fairfield Leisure 
Centre and ancillary matters. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report and exempt 
Appendix A, the revised financial arrangements, for the financial year 
2023/24, be endorsed. 
 

 

 
9. Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024 (Pages 21 - 32)  
 Summary: 

 
To consider the proposed approach to delivery of the Government’s 
Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme for 2023-2024. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024, as set out in 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 
 

 

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing 
 
10. Committee Minutes (Pages 33 - 48)  
 Summary: 

 
To consider the minutes of the following committees: 
 
(a) Policy Overview Committee on13 December 2022; and 
 
(b) Scrutiny Committee on 14 February 2023. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
That the minutes of the meetings of the Policy Overview Committee 
held on 13 December 2022 and the Scrutiny Committee held on 14 
February 2023 be noted. 

 



 

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information. 
  
 
D - Items for Consideration in Private 
 
A. Places Leisure - Fairfield Leisure Centre - Exempt Appendix A -  

(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 49 
- 50) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To consider the exempt Appendix A to the main report. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the contents of Exempt Appendix A to the main report be noted.  
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 23 February 2023 at 7.00 
pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT:  Caroline Hicks, Director of Growth & Community 
Peter Dosad, Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Tim Sams, Head of Finance 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager 
 

 
95. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

96. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

97. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 26 JANUARY 2023  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of its meeting held on 26 January 2023. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 26 January 2023 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.  
 

98. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

99. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF CABINET ADVISORY 
PANEL B HELD ON 20 FEBRUARY 2023  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A 
which took place on 23 February 2023 and had regard to the Panel’s views 
throughout the meeting. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel A held on 23 
February 2023 be noted. 
 

100. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

101. DRAFT BUDGET 2023/24 AND FEES AND CHARGES 2023/24  
 
The Cabinet considered a report on the proposed Revenue and Capital 
Budgets for 2023-24, including recommendations to the General Assembly of 
the Council (Budget) on setting the overall level of General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account revenue and capital expenditure for Dartford Borough 
Council for 2023/24,  the level of Council Tax for Dartford Borough in its 
parished and unparished areas for 2023/24 and fees and charges for 
2023/24, and  approving the Pay Policy Statement and sundry related 
matters. The Council’s determination to provide high quality services and to 
keep tax low, wherever possible, was reflected in the proposals which 
included no increase in the Dartford Borough Council element of Council tax, 
the freezing of rents for Council social housing and for pitches at the 
Claywood Lane, Caravan Site, Bean for the year and setting fees and 
charges, many of which it was proposed not to increase. At the same time it 
was intended to maintain existing levels of service, introduce new initiatives to 
support local people and invest significantly in the social infrastructure that 
helps people to meet challenges at various stages of their lives.  The financial 
settlement had been better than expected, as had revenue from business 
rates, and therefore the Council would be able to add to earmarked reserves. 
This extra contribution would be focused on creating a fund to support capital 
expenditure to increase the supply of temporary accommodation. There may 
be a gap in funding in future years but it would be possible to use reserves to 
maintain services if needed. 
 
The Head of Finance drew attention to key aspects in the projected outturns 
for the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account and noted that the 
Council had benefitted from its previous sound financial management, growth 
in retained business rates and good returns from investment income as well 
as a better than expected financial settlement and from a national funding 
guarantee from the Government (which had offset a decline in New Homes 
Bonus). He also outlined the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and the 
figures built into this to reflect a potential ‘business rate re-set’ at some point 
in the future, and the content of the Capital Programme. Overall, the Council 
was in a good financial position and this would enable the Council to deliver 
on the measures included in the budget, including maintaining existing 
services and dealing with areas of budgetary pressure, such as temporary 
accommodation, some new initiatives, a pay award for staff and contributions 
to earmarked reserves.     
 
Members commented on the strong financial management, stewardship and 
policies which enabled Dartford to deliver services to local residents from a 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

 

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

position of strength and to significantly out-perform neighbouring authorities, 
who were more reliant upon the vagaries of the economy. They also 
welcomed the ability to deliver a fair and reasonable pay increase for staff, 
building upon the measures put in place mid-year to help staff facing cost-of-
living pressures.   It was noted that many fees and charges would remain 
unchanged for the coming year, and that where increases were proposed 
these were only on a cost-recovery basis.  
 
The Cabinet noted the comments raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 
1. That, for the reasons detailed in paras. 3.4 and 3.5 of the report, the rents 

relating to Housing Revenue Account properties and the rents for pitches at 
Claywood Lane, Caravan Site, Bean, be frozen from the first rent week in 
2023/24; 

 
2. That the draft Budget, including an update on the current financial position, 

at Appendix A to the report, be proposed and recommended to the General 
Assembly of the Council for approval; 

 
3. That the Customer Access Review, at Appendix B to the report, be noted. 
 
4. That the Fees and Charges 2023/24 (at Appendices B(ii) and C(iii) to the  

Draft Budget report), with effect from 1 April 2023, be approved. 
 
 

102. SUPPORTING SMALL BUSINESS RATE RELIEF SCHEME 2023-2026 & 
RETAIL, HOSPITALITY AND LEISURE RATE RELIEF SCHEME 2023-2024  
 
The Head of Finance introduced a report which advised Members of two new 
rate support relief schemes that had been announced in the Government’s 
Autumn Statement on 17 November 2022. The first, the Supporting Small 
Business Rate Relief Scheme 2023-2026, would provide a business rate relief 
scheme for eligible ratepayers who, as a result of the change in their rateable 
value at revaluation, were losing some or all of their Small Business Rate 
Relief, Rural Rate Relief or 2017 Supporting Small Business Rate Relief. The 
second related to a business rate relief scheme for eligible retail, hospitality 
and leisure properties, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Rate 
Relief Scheme 2023-2024. Both schemes would be administered by local 
authorities. The Cabinet was asked to approve the proposed schemes, which 
were contained in Appendices A and B to the report.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Supporting Small Business Rate Relief Scheme 2023-2026, as set 

out in Appendix A to the report, be approved; and 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

2. That the Retail Hospitality and Leisure Rate Relief Scheme 2023-2024, as 
set out in Appendix B to the report, be approved. 

 
103. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY REFORMS: CONSULTATION  

 
The Cabinet was informed that the Government was consulting on possible 
changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and wider 
planning reforms. The consultation was formed of two consultation papers: 
National Planning Policy Framework showing Indicative Changes for 
Consultation; and Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: Reforms to National 
Planning Policy and was due to end on 2nd March 2023. The report detailed 
the Council’s interpretation of the consultation and possible implications.  
 
Some of the overall themes within the consultation, such as aiming for 
simplification and the increased importance of urban design considerations 
were welcomed, providing they can be carefully and sensitively worked up 
and applied. However it was felt that substantial further detail and supporting 
guidelines (legislation or draft wording) would be needed on many of the 
proposals touched on in the consultation before their full impact could be 
evaluated and changes taken forward. 
 
The Cabinet had regard to the views expressed by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel. 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the responses to the questions raised in the Government’s consultation 
on changes to the National Planning Policy Framework, set out in Appendix A 
to the report, should form the Council’s response to the consultation. 
 

104. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE PARKING STUDY  
 
The Director of Growth & Community introduced a report which described 
the outcome of the initial public consultation carried out in the West Hill / 
Town wards area between 11th July and 22nd August 2022 as part of the 
first phase consultation of the Dartford Town Centre Parking Study. The 
Cabinet’s attention was drawn to some very minor errors of detail contained 
in the report, none of which impacted materially on the overall content and 
conclusions. The report also included the results of the previous public 
consultation with local residents of Anne of Cleves Road carried out in 
February 2021. The report provided a detailed analysis of the responses to 
the consultation on a street-by-street basis within the consultation area. 
 
Overall the Council received representative responses to the consultation 
from the majority of local residents and businesses within the West Hill / Town 
wards sub zone 1 area. Feedback showed that the majority of residents had 
ongoing concerns about commuter parking and parking displacement impacts 
in their streets. In addition, a majority of local residents would like the Council 
to consider introducing parking management schemes as well as developing 
a co-ordinated parking control scheme to manage future parking demands in 
the area, as well as those associated with new developments, to support the 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

 

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

development of parking solutions for the town centre. Many of the roads 
surveyed already have some form of parking control, which may have 
impacted on some response rates, but many of the parking controls were 
inconsistent across the area.  The local residents of Anne of Cleves Road 
continued to highlight the impact of the existing unrestricted parking on their 
street and support a parking management scheme to be considered for their 
street. 
 
The Cabinet had regard to the views expressed by the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the analysis of the responses to the consultation, as outlined in 

paragraphs 4.1 to 4.51 of the report, be noted; 
 
2. That the recommendation to progress to Stage 2 of the Parking Study for 

sub-zone 1, as set out in paragraph 6.1 to the report in order to consider 
options for proposed parking controls, be approved; 

 
3. That the identified programme for parking management within sub-zone 1, 

as outlined in paragraph 5.1 to the report, be considered and approved; 
 
4. That the scheme for the introduction of consistent parking controls along 

Anne of Cleves Road, which involves: 
 

(a) amendment of all parking bays within Anne of Cleves Road to 
controlled permit parking bays; 

(b) amending operational hours of all the permit parking bays, to align 
with existing hours of control on some of the bays from Monday to 
Friday 9am to 4.30pm, 

 
be agreed and that consultation be carried out with local residents on the 
proposals; and 
 

5. That the Head of Planning Services  be granted delegated authority to 
consider the responses to the formal consultation on the proposed 
consistent parking controls for  Anne of Cleves Road, and if no significant 
objections are received, to progress the scheme to implementation, as set 
out in paragraph 6.1iv) to the report. 

 
105. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL): ANNUAL REVIEW 2022  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided an update of the potential 
infrastructure projects that could be supported by funding secured through 
the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) within the context of the 
level of CIL funding received by the Council up to September 2022.  The 
report described the progress that had been made over the past year on 
the delivery of strategic infrastructure projects as identified in the Council’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Programme.  Progress with identifying and 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

implementing a pilot scheme of projects within unparished areas, using CIL 
funding retained by the Council for the unparished areas of the Borough, 
was also reported, which had been the subject of separate reports to 
Cabinet, along with the Dartford Town Centre Traffic Management Study 
which was being part-funded by unparished CIL monies. The report also 
summarised the CIL income (actual and projected) for the period 2014/15 
to 2027/28 and expenditure. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the report and in particular the release of CIL 
funding for the pilot programme of projects in unparished areas of the 
borough.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the CIL income received by the Council, as set out in Appendix A to 

the report, and the level of CIL funding held for strategic infrastructure 
projects, be noted; 

2. That the revised and updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan, as set out in 
Appendix B to the report, be approved for publication and forms the basis 
for ongoing liaison with the relevant infrastructure providers and further 
development of the identified schemes; 

3. That the projects identified in Part 2 of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
and covered in paragraphs 5.5 to 5.8 of the report are the current 
infrastructure projects identified for the allocation of CIL funding; and 

4. That, once individual projects are sufficiently progressed to demonstrate 
they are deliverable, further reports be submitted to Cabinet, for 
decisions on the release of CIL funding contributions towards those 
projects. 

 
106. REGENERATION & LEVELLING UP BILL - COUNCIL TAX PREMIUMS 

AND SECOND HOME PREMIUMS  
 
The Cabinet was advised of two important changes to council tax provisions 
contained in the Regeneration & Levelling Up Bill (the Bill) which was currently 
passing through Parliament with a view to receiving Royal Assent in Spring 
2023. Clauses 72 and 73 of the Bill proposed, amongst other matters, a 
change in the application of a council tax premium on ‘long term empty’ 
properties and the implementation of a council tax premium on ‘second 
homes.’ 

 
Currently, if a property had been unoccupied and unfurnished for 2 years but 
less than 5 years, then a 100% council tax premium could be applied to the 
property. The Bill was proposing to shorten that 2 year period to 1 year. ‘Long 
term empty’ premiums were applied to encourage owners to bring properties 
back into use so they do not remain empty for extended periods. 

 
For some years local councils had been able to apply a full council tax charge 
to second homes, defined as properties which are unoccupied but furnished. 
The Bill proposed that councils should be able to apply a 100% council tax 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

 

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

premium on second homes (for Dartford that would mean an owner of a 
second home in the borough would pay double the normal council tax charge). 

 
Both of these changes would only take effect if the Bill received Royal Assent 
and even then, the earliest that both of these changes could take effect, would 
be 1 April 2024, providing Royal Assent was granted by 31 March 2023. The 
Bill also provided that approval to introduce the changes must be given local 
authorities at least 12 months before the implementation date so the Cabinet 
was being asked to recommend the application of the new council tax 
premiums to the General Assembly of the Council, on the assumption that 
Royal Assent is received by 1 April 2023.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to the Regeneration & Levelling Up Bill receiving Royal Assent 
prior to 1 April 2023, the General Assembly of the Council be recommended 
to: 
 
(a) approve the application of the 100% premium on unoccupied and 
unfurnished properties which have been empty for 1 year but less than 5 
years, from 1 April 2024; and 
 
(b) approve the application of 100% premium on second homes, from 1 April 
2024. 
 

107. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 2023-2025  
 
The Cabinet received a report which sought Members’ views on the proposed 
calendar of meetings for the Municipal Year 2023/24 and the provisional 
calendar for 2024/25. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the proposed calendar of meetings for the Municipal Year 2023/24 and 
the provisional calendar of meetings for 2024/25 be submitted to the Annual 
Meeting of the Council. 
 

108. CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - QUARTER 3  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed performance against the 
Corporate Plan Performance Indicators for the 3rd quarter of 2022/23 and 
noted the strong and consistent performance across the indicators. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Corporate Plan 2022/2023 Performance Indicators report for Quarter 
3 be noted. 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

109. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, under Section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information. 
 
No members of the press or public were present during discussion of the 
following item of business.  
 

110. CONTRACTUAL CLAIM  
 
The Cabinet considered an updated exempt report which provided details of a 
contractual claim to which the Council was a party and a proposed approach 
to dealing with the matter. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet notes the contents of the updated exempt report and 
approves the proposed approach to dealing with a contractual claim and 
delegation to the Director of Growth & Community, as detailed in the revised 
exempt report and discussed at the meeting. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 8.23 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



                              
CABINET 

23 March 2023 

CYBER SECURITY STRATEGY 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1  This report sets out a high level Cyber Security Strategy for approval. This 

addresses the organisational and behavioural elements of cyber security 
defences with the aim of improving the level of cyber security awareness 
across the Council. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That  the Cyber Security Strategy, at Appendix A to the report, be approved. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. There is a growing history of local councils who have suffered 

significant cyber attacks. These attacks have led to financial loss, long 
recovery times and reputational damage. 

3.2. Whilst to date there have been no cyber incidents that have impacted 
on the Council, from a strategic planning perspective, it is more likely to 
be a case of ‘when’ the Council suffers a cyber incident rather than ‘if’. 
Such an attack could cause disruption to the Council’s primary 
services; disrupt the democratic system and process; and may lead to 
data theft, given the high volumes of personal and financial data held 
by the Council. 

3.3. A Cyber Security Strategy is presented at Appendix A to this report. 
This is not a technical document but is instead, designed to improve 
the level of cyber security awareness across the Council. It sets out the 
Council’s current cyber security maturity level and the steps that are 
required to strengthen the cyber security defences from an 
organisational and behavioural perspective. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The measures identified within the Strategy that 
are required to improve the level of cyber security 
awareness across the Council have all been 
provided for within the budget. 

Legal Implications The information created and processed by the 

Page 9 Agenda Item 7



                              
CABINET 

23 March 2023 

Council is one of its most valuable assets. The 
consequences of a cyber security breach could 
result in financial loss, reputational damage, 
breach of a legal obligation under data protection 
legislation, breach of contract and breach of 
professional rules. Failing to have appropriate 
security measures in place to avoid/mitigate a 
cyber attack, could result in a significant fine 
issued by the ICO. 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty  
Crime and Disorder Duty  

None 
 

None 
 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

N/A 

Staffing Implications The Strategy identifies additional training 
required to strengthen the Council’s cyber 
defences. 

Administrative Implications There will be staff time required to undertake the 
training and implement the additional processes 
and technologies identified in the Strategy.  

Risk Assessment The Strategy sets out the risk background and 
the specific risks relating to a cyber attack. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Cyber Security Strategy 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Sarah Martin 

(01322) 343402 
 N/A 

Page 10Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

 

 

Appendix A 
 

 

 

CYBER SECURITY STRATEGY  

Page 11 Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Change History   
Initiated by : Date Author(s)  
Head of ICT & Transformation January 2023  Jason Tillyard 
   
Version Date  Comments 
0.1  26 January 2023 Draft  
0.2  28 February 2023 Revisions  
0.3  1 March 2023 Revisions  

 

Approval & validity 

Approved date :  
Valid until date :   
Review by date:   

 

Approvals required from:  Date approval provided:  
Head of ICT & Transformation   
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services  

 

 

Document Reference: DBC CYBER SECURITY STRATEGY  
Document Status: DRAFT  
Version: 0.3 

Page 12Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

Contents 

 

Paragraph  Page  
   
1 Introduction 2 
2 The risk background  2, 3 
3 Dartford’s cyber security maturity 3 
4 People, processes & policies, technology  4,5 
5 Staffing & skillsets  5 
6 Success criteria  5,6 

 

1. Introduction 

This document contains the high-level strategy designed to improve the level of cyber security 
awareness across Dartford Borough Council, including all of its Members and officers. This is not a 
technical document but addresses organisational and behavioural elements of cyber security 
defences.  

2. The risk background  

Dartford Borough Council, in common with other district, parish, town, county and other councils in 
England, provides a wide range of key services to residents. In the case of Dartford, a council with 
around 112,000 residents, those services range from housing to waste collection, environmental 
health and planning. Whilst none of the services can be described as true emergency or ‘blue light’ 
services there are nevertheless some which are critical. Distribution of benefits, and provision of 
emergency housing can be, or can become, critical in nature and in many cases are provided to 
vulnerable residents in times of acute need.   

In terms of specific risks they are listed below in order of impact: -  

 disruption to the Council’s primary services  
 disruption to, or lessening of confidence in, the democratic system & process  
 data theft, particularly given the high volumes of personal & financial data that the Council 

holds  

In the wider landscape there is a growing history of local councils in England who have suffered 
significant cyber attacks; recent examples include Copeland, Hackney, Redcar and Gloucester.  

It should be noted that councils who have suffered cyber attacks have commonly required well in 
excess of £1m to achieve full recovery. In addition to the financial costs too there can be significant 
reputational damage, particularly when front-line services are taken down. In most instances the 
recovery timeline is very extended; in one case services were not fully recovered for ten months, 
causing major inconvenience to residents accompanied by much negative publicity.  

At this point in time there have been no cyber incidents that have impacted Dartford, but from a 
strategic viewpoint the planning is very much around the “when” as opposed to the “if”. 

3. Dartford’s cyber security maturity 

From a technical perspective, detailed cyber health checks and penetration tests are carried out 
annually as part of the Council’s PSN (Public Sector Network) certification. (Public Services Network 

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

(PSN) Compliance, 2016). These rigorous checks have scored very highly, demonstrating that there is 
a strong level of maturity within the Council’s technical cyber defences. It is noted that the PSN 
certification is to be replaced by the Cyber Awareness Framework (CAF) in 2023 or 2024. Dartford 
Borough Council will continue to invest the necessary resources and time in order to retain successful 
certification of PSN (and CAF once that comes into existence).  

From a people and behaviours perspective, there is a desire to improve our current cyber security 
maturity level and a number of strategies to drive that improvement are detailed in later sections of 
this strategy.  

4. People, processes & policies, technology 

People – this strategy acknowledges the desire to improve the level of engagement in cyber 

awareness across the Council. The following measures will be taken to address this issue: -  

- we will build on the basic cyber awareness training that has already been provided, and 

consider gamifying the learning experience to make it more attractive to staff.  

- staff will be educated to understand how and where they fit within the wider organisation’s 

cyber awareness ecosystem.  

- the Leadership and management teams will be put through rigorous business continuity 

exercises based around a cyber attack which takes down all of the services.  

- the IT function will carry out further incident management exercises in order to ‘dry run’ their 

response and actions following a cyber attack.  

- the elected members of the council (Councillors) will have the cyber awareness training rolled 

out to them, and will also be added to the scope of the phishing exercises.  

Processes and policies – there are a number of improvements to be made to policies covering the 

areas of cyber security, business continuity, disaster recovery and incident management. With that 

overall objective in mind: - 

- an updated overall IT strategy will be created 

- an organisation-wide process will be created to be followed when a cyber attack occurs 

- an incident management ‘run book’ will be created which the IT team will follow when 

responding to an attack  

- all parts of the organisation will be educated to understand their roles following an attack, in 

areas as diverse as communications, handling the media, ringfencing technical resources, 

ensuring staff connectivity and welfare etc.  

- a quarterly Cyber Security Posture Review will be introduced in order to assess the status of 

the people, process and technology elements, and to track progress against project 

improvements and success criteria.  

Page 14Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

Technology – at present the Council’s IT provision is relatively well set up for reactive measures that 

would come into play in the event of a cyber attack. Basic essentials such as MFA (multi-factor 

authorisation) tools, anti-virus software, robust backup and disaster recovery technologies are all in 

place.  

- emphasis will therefore be placed on the implementation of tools that may assist early 

detection of a possible attack, and allow mitigating steps to be taken  

- technologies such as a SIEM (Security information and event management) platform will be 

assessed 

- tools which can monitor the dark web and dumpsites, looking for evidence that data may have 

been exfiltrated, that usernames and passwords may have fallen into the wrong hands, or that 

domain names may have been mimicked or otherwise compromised will be assessed and 

subsequently implemented  

5. Staffing and skillsets  

This strategy acknowledges the need for more resources to be applied to cybersecurity, therefore: -   

- one additional staff member will be employed, to be deployed as a Cyber Security Analyst. 

They will be required to have significant experience in cyber security as well as, potentially, a 

formal qualification such as CISM (Certified Information Security Manager). The Cyber Security 

Analyst will work right across the organisation with their primary focus being on cyber 

awareness and governance.  

6. Success criteria  

The success of this strategy will be measurable in the following ways:  

- a target of a 50% reduction of the rates at which Council staff click links in phishing emails 

will be set and performance against that target will be measured over a six month period 

- the phishing exercises will be extended to include all elected members within three months 
of this strategy being approved and implemented 
 

- cyber awareness training will be rolled out to all elected members as part of their post-

election onboarding and at other intervals 

- business continuity, disaster recovery and cyber incident management exercises will all 

occur at regular intervals  

- at least one additional staff member – with appropriate experience, skills and qualifications 

as detailed previously - will be deployed to the IT team within six months of this strategy 

being implemented  

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



Cyber Security Strategy - February 2023 

- the proposed quarterly Cyber Security Posture Reviews will take place and any actions 

arising from them will be tracked to completion 

Page 16Agenda Item 7



   
CABINET 

23 MARCH 2023 

PLACES LEISURE – FAIRFIELD LEISURE CENTRE  
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the financial arrangements for 2023/24, in respect of the 

contract with Places Leisure for the operation of Fairfield Leisure Centre and 
matters ancillary thereto. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report and exempt Appendix A, the 

revised financial arrangements, for the financial year 2023/24, be endorsed. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 A leisure facility such as Fairfield Leisure Centre, assists the Council in    

delivering its statutory duties, including contributing to healthier lifestyles and 
mental wellbeing. This leisure facility also assists to better the economic stance 
of the local community by job creation and to make the Borough of Dartford an 
area more attractive to work and live. Trading for leisure operators proved to be 
extremely challenging during and after Covid and it is therefore important that 
the Council works with Places Leisure to ensure it can continue to deliver 
quality services at the Fairfield Leisure Centre on the Council’s behalf. 

 
3.2 As reported to Cabinet in March 2022 (Min No. 135), the Council worked 

closely with Places Leisure during Covid to agree a financial support package 
to reflect the impact on its business of the Covid restrictions, both during the 
closure periods and the subsequent re-mobilisation periods. The Council also 
agreed a reduced management fee for both 2021/22 and 2022/23, some of 
which was offset by Government grant funding. 

 
3.3 At a time when recovery is beginning to gain momentum, leisure providers are 

being hit hard by rising utility costs and the recent cost of living pressures on 
households which adversely impact consumer confidence, throughput and 
participation rates. This makes it a pressing issue for local authorities and leisure 
operators to address and review existing arrangements and options to ensure 
the viability of the sector. 

 
3.4 Discussions have now been had with Places Leisure regarding the 2023/24 

financial year. Whilst activity levels for swimming lessons have exceeded targets, 
gym memberships are well below pre-Covid levels and consequently income is 
still down, compared to February 2020. This is in line with other leisure centres 
across the country. The main pressure though is now from energy costs. 
Although the contractual risk in respect of energy costs sits with Places Leisure, 
the extent of the increase in tariffs has been unprecedented. Steps have been 
taken by Places Leisure to reduce energy consumption, including recent 

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



REPORT TO CABINET 
23 MARCH 2023

 

installation of pool covers and LED lighting, however, the cost of energy itself 
has risen substantially.  

 
There is some protection in place currently from the Government’s energy cap, 
but this ends on 31 March 2023. For the new financial year, commencing 1 April 
2023, there is no such protection with leisure centres being exempt from the 
newly announced Energy Bills Discount Scheme, despite having high levels of 
energy use. The substantial increase in energy costs mean that Places Leisure 
will find it challenging to invest in the customer experience and to deliver the 
contracted management fee payable to the Council. 
 
The Council considers the provision of quality leisure services to be a true 
partnership between the Council and the operator and therefore, as detailed in 
exempt Appendix A, it is proposed that a revised management fee be agreed for 
2023/24. 

 
3.5 Any adjustment to the management fee should be subject to a commitment from 

Places Leisure to pursue alternative forms of support to assist with the energy 
costs of the facility and, if such support Is forthcoming, a corresponding 
adjustment to the management fee. 

  
3.6 The Subsidy Control Act 2022 in now fully in force. A ‘subsidy’ is defined1 as a 

grant, tax break, loan, or other form of financial assistance paid from public 
resources, which is specific, in that it gives an advantage to a business over 
another business and which is capable of affecting competition etc. in the 
provision of a service. 

 
  Section 4(2) of the 2022 Act provides ‘Financial assistance is not to be regarded 

as being specific if the distinction in the treatment of enterprises is justified by 
principles inherent to the design of the arrangements of which that financial 
assistance is part.’  

 
This is interpreted as being the contractual arrangements between the parties, 
as discussed in exempt Appendix A to the report. 

 
3.7  As a matter of best practice, the Council has reviewed its proposals alongside 

the Subsidy Control Act 2022 and has concluded that its proposal to reduce the 
management fee is not a subsidy.   

3.8 Whilst the Council is working with Places Leisure to revert to the initial 
contractual arrangement for future years, with the transfer of risk back to Places 
Leisure, Cabinet endorsement is sought for the proposed financial arrangements 
for 2023/24, as detailed at exempt Appendix A.  

 
3.9 It should be noted that the Council has been successful in bidding for funds from 

Phase 3b of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme to deliver 
decarbonisation works to Fairfield Leisure Centre.  Whilst predominantly a 
climate change led project, the works should also reduce the centre’s reliance on 

 
1 S2(1) of the 2022 Act 

Page 18Agenda Item 8



REPORT TO CABINET 
23 MARCH 2023

 

fossil fuels as well as the operating costs relating to same.  This project is being 
planned now and will take some time to complete but this will likely assist Places 
Leisure revert to initial contractual arrangements as mentioned at paragraph 3.8. 

   
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
The facilities provided through Places Leisure form a key part of the Council’s 
leisure infrastructure. Fairfield meets Corporate Plan objectives relating to Health 
and Well Being, Economic Development and Regeneration and Environment and 
Sustainability. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications As discussed in exempt Appendix A to 
the report. 

Legal Implications 
 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
Crime and Disorder Duty 

As discussed above and in exempt 
Appendix A to the report. 
 
None 
 
None  

Climate Impact Assessment Reductions in energy consumption from 
introduction of pool covers and LED 
lighting 

Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment If the leisure operator that runs this 

facility on behalf of the Council fails, 
then the Council must decide to either 
support the operator or let it fail and 
potentially bring the facility back in-
house. The later approach comes with 
challenges including TUPE, loss of 
income and facility maintenance. 

 
6. Appendix 
 

Appendix A – [Exempt] –Places Leisure- Fairfield Leisure Centre - Financial 
Arrangements for 2023/24 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information Category 

Page 19 Agenda Item 8



REPORT TO CABINET 
23 MARCH 2023

 

   Sarah Martin 
 

Corporate Services Appendix A - Standing 
Order 46(1) (b) and Annex 
1, paragraph 3, namely, 
Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs 
of any particular person 
(including the authority 
holding the information),and 
in all the circumstances of 
the case the public interest 
in not disclosing the 
information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing 
the information. 

Page 20Agenda Item 8



                
CABINET 

23 MARCH 2023 
 

 
 

HEAT NETWORK RATES RELIEF SCHEME 2023-2024 
 
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To consider the proposed approach to delivering the Government’s Heat 

Network Rates Relief Scheme for 2023-2024. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 That the Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024, as set out in 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 

 
 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In the Spring Statement of 2022, the Government announced that it 
would provide Heat Network Rate relief from 1 April 2022.  The relief 
was delivered using existing local government discretionary relief 
powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
(as amended).   
 

3.2. It is anticipated that Heat Network Rates relief will become a 
mandatory relief but this requires primary legislation.  Therefore, the 
delivery via local government discretionary relief powers has been 
extended to the 2023/2024 financial year; hence the requirement for a 
scheme. 

 
3.3. Heat Networks take heat or cooling from a central source(s) and 

deliver it to a variety of different customers such as public buildings, 
shops, offices, hospitals, universities and homes.  By supplying 
multiple buildings, they avoid the need for individual boilers or electric 
heaters in every building. 

 
3.4. Heat networks have the potential to reduce bills, support local 

regeneration and be a cost-effective way of reducing carbon 
emissions from heating. 

 
3.5. For the purposes of this relief, a heat network if a facility, such as a 

district heating scheme, which supplies thermal energy from a central 
source to consumers via a network of pipes for the purposes of space 
heating, space cooling or domestic hot water.  

 
3.6. In order to be eligible, a hereditament must be wholly or mainly used 

for the purposes of a heat network and the heat is expected to be 
generated from a low carbon source over the next 12 months. 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 9



                 
CABINET 

23 MARCH 2023 
 

 

3.7. Relief is available at 100% of the chargeable amount for an eligible 
hereditament for any day on which the eligibility criteria are met. 

 
3.8. The Heat Network Rates Relief is considered to be a subsidy and will 

therefore be subject to the Subsidy Control Act 2022 obligations. 
Businesses eligible for relief will need to fulfil any requirements in 
place to ensure compliance with those obligations in advance of, 
during, and after claiming relief. 

 
3.9. The Heat Networks Rates Relief Scheme for 2023-2024, at Appendix 

A to the report, sets out how the Council intends to implement this 
Government led relief. 

 
3.10. Relief will be awarded automatically to eligible businesses. 

 
Financial implications 

 
3.11. Since 1 April 2013, all business rate relief awarded using 

discretionary powers under Section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (as amended) has come under the provisions of the 
Business Rate Retention Scheme. 

 
3.12. Government will fully reimburse billing authorities and major 

preceptors for the actual cost to them under the rates retention 
scheme of the relief that falls within the definitions in the scheme set 
out in Appendix A.  Reimbursement will be by way of a grant under 
section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.   
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications As set out in the body of the report 
 

Legal Implications 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
Crime and Disorder Duty 
 

As set out in the body of the report 
 
No identified adverse impacts 
 
No implications 
 

Climate Impact Assessment Heat networks play an important role in 
decarbonising heat and support delivery 
of Government’s net zero commitments 

Staffing Implications None 

Page 22Agenda Item 9



                 
CABINET 

23 MARCH 2023 
 

 

Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Appendices 

 
Appendix A Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Government 
guidelines for 
local 
authorities 

 
 

  
Sue Cressall 
01732 227041 

 
Revenues 
Corporate 
Services 

 
N/A 

Page 23 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



          

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
   

   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Dartford Borough Council 
Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 
(2023/24 financial year only) 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 1 

Page 25 Agenda Item 9



          

 
 

     
     
       

        
     

    
      

       
     

     
     
       

     
    

     
        

    
      

    
 
  

Contents 

1.0 Purpose of the Policy............................................................................................................. 3 
2.0 General Explanation .............................................................................................................. 3 
3.0 How will the relief be provided? ........................................................................................... 3 

Who is eligible for the relief? ................................................................................................ 4 
Wholly or mainly ............................................................................................................................. 4 
Thermal energy ............................................................................................................................... 4 
The heat is generated from a low carbon source............................................................................ 5 

How much relief will be available?........................................................................................ 5 
Recalculations of relief .......................................................................................................... 6 

4.0 Subsidy control ...................................................................................................................... 6 
5.0 Effect on the Council’s Finances ................................................................................ 6 
6.0 Administration of Discretionary Relief .................................................................................. 7 

Applications and Evidence..................................................................................................... 7 
Granting of relief ................................................................................................................... 7 

7.0 Scheme of Delegation ........................................................................................................... 7 
Granting, Varying, Reviewing and Revocation of Relief ........................................................ 7 

8.0 Reviews ................................................................................................................................. 8 
9.0 Reporting changes in circumstances ..................................................................................... 8 
10.0 Fraud ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 2 

Page 26Agenda Item 9



          

   
 

                
         
   

 
              

             
 

   
 

          
                

        
          

             
  

 
            

         
  

 
           

          
            

            
  

  
     
          

 
         

         
         

      
 

      
 

          
         

            
          

 
             

            

1.0 Purpose of the Policy 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to determine the level of discretionary relief to be 
awarded in respect of eligible low carbon heat networks that have a separate non-
domestic rates liability. 

1.2 This is a Government led initiative which is effective from 1st April 2023 for one 
year only and the Council is keen to support businesses as far as possible. 

2.0 General Explanation 

2.1 In the Spring Statement 2022, the Chancellor announced that the Heat Network 
Relief will apply from 1 April 2022 so, for the financial year 2022/23, the relief was 
delivered using existing local government discretionary relief powers under 
Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, funded by Government by 
means of a S31 grant. This approach has now been extended to the 2023/24 
financial year. 

2.2 The Council therefore intends to provide relief under the discretionary relief 
provisions for 2023/24 period as requested by Government in order to assist 
eligible ratepayers. 

2.3 Heat networks take heat or cooling from a central source(s) and deliver it to a 
variety of different customers such as public buildings, shops, offices, hospitals, 
universities, and homes. By supplying multiple buildings, they avoid the need for 
individual boilers or electric heaters in every building. Heat networks have the 
potential to: 
• reduce bills; 
• support local regeneration; and 
• be a cost-effective way of reducing carbon emissions from heating. 

2.4 Heat networks play an important role in decarbonising heat and support delivery 
of Government’s net zero commitments. They are uniquely able to unlock 
otherwise inaccessible large-scale renewable and recovered heat sources such as 
waste heat and heat from rivers and mines. 

. 
3.0 How will the relief be provided? 

3.1 As this is a temporary measure for 2023/24, Government is not changing the 
legislation. Instead, Government will, in line with the eligibility criteria set out in 
this policy, reimburse the Council if it uses its discretionary relief powers, under 
section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, to grant relief. 

3.2 The Council will be reimbursed following the submission of outturn data in the 
National Non-Domestic Rates 3 (NNDR3) form for 2023/24. In addition, the Council 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 3 

Page 27 Agenda Item 9



          

               
    

 
      

 
          

          
             

          
   

 
         

          
      

 
              

        
            

 
 

           
     

 
 

 
            

        
 

             
           

            
           

      
 

              
       

 
 

 
            

          
       

        
 

          
        
           

is required to ensure that it is able to monitor and report the take up of the 
scheme at Parliamentary constituency level. 

Who is eligible for the relief? 

3.3 In order to be eligible for Heat Network Relief, the hereditament must be: 
(a) wholly or mainly used for the purposes of a heat network; and 
(b) the heat is, over the next 12 months, expected to be generated from a low 

carbon source (irrespective of whether that source is located on the 
hereditament or on a different hereditament). 

3.4 Government anticipates the test at (b) above being made based on a forecast at 
the commencement of the financial year. The Council is not required to revisit the 
forecast although it may undertake a review if thought necessary 

3.5 For the purposes of this relief, a heat network is a facility, such as a district heating 
scheme, which supplies thermal energy from a central source to consumers via a 
network of pipes for the purposes of space heating, space cooling or domestic 
hot water. 

3.6 Hereditaments wholly or mainly providing heat for a different purpose (such as an 
industrial process) are not eligible. 

Wholly or mainly 

3.7 The test for this relief should be applied to the hereditament as a whole and heat 
network relief is not available on part of a hereditament. 

3.8 Many small and medium scale heat networks, such as common heating systems in 
multi-occupied buildings or estates, do not give rise to a separate business rates 
liability. In these cases, the heat network forms part of the services of the 
properties which have a wider purpose (e.g., offices) and therefore would not be 
eligible for Heat Network Relief. 

3.9 It is expected that the networks eligible for the relief will be the larger facilities 
which have their own business rates assessment. 

Thermal energy 

3.10 The test is on thermal energy. This means that the purposes of generating 
electricity does not count towards meeting the wholly or mainly test and, as a 
result, Government does not anticipate hereditaments comprising power stations 
and a heat recovery and network system to qualify. 

3.11 A hereditament comprising a Combined Heat and Power (CHP) facility where the 
generation of electricity at the hereditament was more significant than the 
generation and supply of heat would not qualify for the relief. However, if a heat 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 4 

Page 28Agenda Item 9



          

           
           

       
 

             
             

          
            

            
            

          
         

    
 

 
 

          
       
     
         

           
 

        
 

                  
         

             
     

 
        

            
          

 
            

        
           

            
         

 
     

 
            

           
           

 
            

           

recovery and network system taking heat from a power station was, for whatever 
reason, in a separate hereditament from the power station then it may still qualify 
subject to meeting the other tests of eligibility. 

3.12 Similar, considerations will apply where the heat is being taken from an incinerator 
or Energy from Waste (EfW) Plant. If the heat network forms part of the same 
hereditament as the incinerator or EfW plant then, unless it has been designed 
specifically as a heat network, it is unlikely to pass the wholly or mainly test (its 
primary purpose more likely being incineration of waste or generation of power). 
However, it may qualify (subject to the other tests of eligibility) if the heat network 
forms its own hereditament (i.e., if the heat is coming in from a different 
hereditament such as the case of a heat network which purchases heat from a 
separately assessed EfW plant). 

The heat is generated from a low carbon source 

3.13 A low carbon source is a source of which at least: 
(a) 50% is renewable as defined below; 
(b) 50% is waste heat; 
(c) 75% is cogeneration heat (where cogeneration’ means the simultaneous 

generation in one process of thermal energy and electrical or mechanical 
energy); or 

(d) 75% is a combination of the sources above. 

3.14 A renewable source is any of the sources listed in Class 1(e) of the Schedule to the 
Valuation for Rating (Plant and Machinery) (England) Regulations 2000 (SI 2000 
No. 540) as inserted by regulation 2(b) of the Valuation for Rating (Plant and 
Machinery) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2022. 

3.15 Waste heat includes heat unavoidably generated as a by-product of another 
process, which would be wasted if not used for the purposes of a district heating 
network. This may include heat generated through the incineration of waste. 

3.16 Combined Heat and Power (CHP) sources will qualify as sources of cogeneration 
heat including gas CHP. However, a hereditament comprising a CHP facility would 
still have to meet the first test of the relief – that the hereditament was wholly or 
mainly used for the purposes of a heat network (and not for example wholly or 
mainly for the purpose of generating and selling electricity). 

How much relief will be available? 

3.17 Relief is available at 100% of the chargeable amount for the hereditament for any 
day on which the eligibility criteria are met. Therefore, for eligible hereditaments 
the rates liability will fall to nil from 1 April 2023. 

3.18 Heat Network relief is not available on only part of the hereditament. If the 
eligibility criteria are met for the hereditament as a whole then full relief will be 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 5 

Page 29 Agenda Item 9



          

          
           

 
       

             
   

 
            

   
 

   
 

            
           

        
 

          
           

             
            

            
           

             
 

               
           
            

      
 

  
 

             
           

            
     

 
     

 
             

         
 
  

applied even if, for example, the hereditament contains some plant (such as a 
back-up boiler) which may not in isolation meet the low carbon tests. 

3.19 Equally, a hereditament which overall does not meet the eligibility criteria cannot 
receive partial relief on an individual item of plant which in isolation may have 
passed the tests. 

3.20 The Heat Network Relief will be applied after mandatory reliefs but before any 
other discretionary reliefs. 

Recalculations of relief 

3.21 The amount of Heat Network Relief awarded will be recalculated in the event of a 
change of circumstances. This may include, for example, a backdated change to 
the rateable value or to the hereditament. 

3.22 Under the Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989, the 
Council must give at least 12 months’ notice of a revocation or variation of a rate 
relief scheme, the effect of which would be to increase rate bills. Such a revocation 
or variation can only take effect at the end of a financial year. But, within these 
regulations, the Council may still (and will) make decisions which are conditional 
upon eligibility criteria. If a change in circumstances renders a property ineligible, 
the Council will amend the rate liability to reflect the loss of the relief. 

3.23 In view of the above, when making an award for Heat Network Relief, the Council 
will ensure that the award will be subject to the property’s continuing eligibility. If 
the use of the property changes so that it is no longer eligible, the relevant 
chargeable amount will be recalculated to reflect that fact. 

4.0 Subsidy control 

4.1 The Heat Network relief is subject to the UK’s domestic and international subsidy 
control obligations. Businesses eligible for relief will need to fulfil any 
requirements in place to ensure compliance with those obligations in advance of, 
during, and after claiming relief. 

5.0 Effect on the Council’s Finances 

5.1 As this is a Government led initiative, grants for the full amount awarded will be 
available through section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 6 

Page 30Agenda Item 9



          

   
 

            
          

   
 

   
 

          
 

     
           

  
 

    
 

               
    

             
      
          

    
 

                
             

          
    

 
               

 
    

 
      

 
             

         
          

           
   

 
         

            

 
        

 

6.0 Administration of Discretionary Relief 

6.1 The following section outlines the procedures followed by officers in granting, 
amending, or cancelling discretionary relief and reduction. This is essentially laid 
down by legislation1 

Applications and Evidence 

6.2 Heat Network Relief will be awarded automatically by the Council. 

6.3 The Council will provide this service and provide guidance free of charge. 
Ratepayers are encouraged to approach the Council direct and NOT pay for such 
services through third parties. 

Granting of relief 

6.4 In all cases, the Council will notify the ratepayer of decisions via their rates demand 
and details will include: 
• The amount of relief granted and the date from which it has been granted; 
• The new chargeable amount; and 
• A requirement that the applicant should notify the Council of any change in 

circumstances that may affect entitlement to relief. 

6.5 This relief is to be granted from the beginning of the financial year in which the 
decision is made or when liability begins whichever is the later. It will end at the 
end of the financial year, when it is anticipated that Government will make Heat 
Network Relief a mandatory relief. 

6.6 Variations in any decision will be notified to ratepayers as soon as practicable 

7.0 Scheme of Delegation 

Granting, Varying, Reviewing and Revocation of Relief 

7.1 All powers in relation to reliefs are given under the Local Government Finance Act 
1988, the Local Government and Rating Act 1997, the Local Government Act 2003, 
and the Localism Act 2011.However section 223 of the Local Government Act 1992 
allows for delegation of decisions by the Council to Cabinet, Committees, Sub-
Committees or Officers. 

7.2 The Council’s scheme of delegation allows for the Business Rates Manager to 
award, revise or revoke any discretionary relief in line with this policy. 

1 The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 7 

Page 31 Agenda Item 9



          

  
 

             
            

            
          

 
              

              
 

 
             

             
 

 
     

 
              

              
              

          
 

             
              

            
 

 
  

 
             

        
             

  

8.0 Reviews 

8.1 Where the Council receives an appeal from the ratepayer regarding the granting, 
non-granting or the amount of any discretionary relief, the case will be reviewed 
by the Business Rates Manager. Where a decision is revised, then the ratepayer 
shall be informed, likewise if the original decision is upheld. 

8.2 Where the ratepayer wishes to appeal the decision, the case will be considered by 
the Council’s Section 151 Officer whose decision on behalf of the Council will be 
final. 

8.3 Ultimately the formal appeal process for the ratepayer is Judicial Review although 
the Council will endeavour to explain any decision fully and openly with the 
ratepayer. 

9.0 Reporting changes in circumstances 

9.1 Where any award is granted to a ratepayer, the Council will require any changes 
in circumstances which may affect the relief, to be reported as soon as possible or 
in any event within 21 days of the change. This will be important where the change 
would result in the amount of the award being reduced or cancelled. 

9.2 Where a change of circumstances is reported, the relief will, if appropriate, be 
revised or cancelled as appropriate. Where any award is to be reduced, the Council 
will look to recover the amount from the date the change of circumstances 
occurred. 

10.0 Fraud 

10.1 Where a ratepayer falsely applies for any relief, or where the ratepayer provides 
false information, makes false representation, or deliberately withholds 
information in order to gain relief, prosecutions will be considered under the Fraud 
Act 2006. 

Dartford Borough Council Discretionary Business Rates Relief Policy 2023/24 8 

Page 32Agenda Item 9



Page 33 Agenda Item 10



Page 34Agenda Item 10



Page 35 Agenda Item 10



Page 36Agenda Item 10



Page 37 Agenda Item 10



Page 38Agenda Item 10



Page 39 Agenda Item 10



Page 40Agenda Item 10



Page 41 Agenda Item 10



Page 42Agenda Item 10



Page 43 Agenda Item 10



Page 44Agenda Item 10



Page 45 Agenda Item 10



Page 46Agenda Item 10



Page 47 Agenda Item 10



Page 48Agenda Item 10



Document is Restricted

Page 49 Agenda Item A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 February 2023
	7 Cyber Security Strategy
	Appendix A - Dartford Borough Council Cyber Security Strategy version 0.3

	8 Places Leisure - Fairfield Leisure Centre
	BACKGROUND PAPERS

	9 Heat Network Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024
	Appendix A Dartford Heat Networks Rates Relief Scheme 2023-2024

	10 Committee Minutes
	A Places Leisure - Fairfield Leisure Centre - Exempt Appendix A - <br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)



Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		Dartford Heat Network 2023 Rates DRR Policy.pdf




		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk

		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 2

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 0

		Passed: 30

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
